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Commander’s Comments — Larry McCluney 
Compatriots, 
     Thank you for allowing my wife and I to be away from our August meeting as we 
celebrated our 30 Wedding Anniversary.  How time flies.  As you know, our new fis-
cal year has begun as of August 1 and the grace period was over August 31.  If you 
have not paid your dues, late fees are now being assessed.  As of September 1, Dan 
reported we just need one more member to renew, and we will have 100  percent. 
Send all dues to Dan McCaskill not Mike Moore.  Also, Please look at your renewal 
form , it does not include Camp dues, yes you still have to include the $10.00 Camp 
dues to Dan McCaskill.  Please make your check payable to B/G Benjamin G. Hum-
phreys # 1625. The bank will not accept the check otherwise. You must pay your 
dues to remain a member in good standing in the Sons of Confederate Veterans. The 
statement also includes optional giving, which includes Division Operations, SCV 
Confederate Museum, and so forth. The optional giving portion furthers the Cause & 
the Charge. Every little bit helps in areas to promote our Heritage & History! In this 
War of the Second Reconstruction, as we hold the line, a war chest is vital for the battles we face daily. 
     The beginning of September brings us to cooler temperatures and of course football season which can distract 
our members from meetings. I said this in last month’s issue, but I feel it warrants to be said again:  “I know life 
tends to get in the way of things at times but we have a duty as descendants of Confederate Veterans to attend and 
participate.  That duty is stated in our Charge and the oaths you took when you joined this organization.  One Satur-
day evening out of a month is not much to ask of you to participate in your Camp’s activities and meetings.  Re-
member, our ancestors gave 365 days of four years.  Can you not give one evening a month to participate?  There 
are other ways you can participate such as attend your Camp’s Lee/Jackson Banquet once a year, attend your 
Camp’s Memorial Day Service once a year, support our activities such as the new headstone our Camp erected 
that our Camp paid for or give money toward projects such as the $1,200 we collected to help with the National 
project to rebuild the pedestal for the Forrest Equestrian Statue at Elm Springs.” 
     Robert E. Lee once said, “You should do your duty in all things. You can never do more, you should nev-
er wish to do less.”  Remember the Charge?  “To you, Sons of Confederate Veterans, we will commit the 
vindication of the cause for      which we fought. To your strength will be given the defense of the Confeder-
ate soldier’s good name, the guardianship of his history, the emulation of his virtues, the perpetuation of 
those principles which he loved and which you love also, and those ideals which made him glorious and 
which you also cherish.”  Let us all rededicate ourselves to carry out our DUTY and set our priorities to set aside 
this time to attend meetings and support our Camp activities as we wind this fiscal year down.  Remember, “If not 
US, Who?  If not Now, When?” 
     In closing, remember, it is your duty  to protect the Confederate Soldier’s good name so that his legacy will con-
tinue for future generations. 

     As always, remember compatriots, you are “The Thin Gray Line!” 

“Scorched by the cannon's molten breath, 

They'd climbed the trembling walls of death 

And set their standards tattered -- 

Had charged at the bugle's stirring blare 

Through bolted gloom and godless glare 

From the dead's reddened gulches, where 

The searching shrapnel shattered.” 

-         Excerpt from The Last Charge at Appomattox by Henry Jerome Stockard 

Adjutant’s Report —  Dan McCaskill 
     Our Camp Meeting was called to order at 6:05 PM by 1st Lt. Commander Michael Anthony because Larry and 
Annette McCluney were in Hot Springs, AR celebrating their wedding anniversary.  Michael asked Camp Chaplain 
Earl McCown to open the meeting with a prayer and to bless our evening meal. Following the prayer, Color Ser-
geant Earl Allen led the members in the Pledge and Salutes to the Flags followed by a reading of The Charge.  
  Compatriot Kenneth Ray took a few moments to thank the Camp for its donation to the Pancreatic Cancer Re-
search in memory of his wife Jerrita Ray. Kenneth stated it meant a lot to him and the family.  
     We also welcomed the return of Ronnie and Barb Stewart to the Camp. 
  While waiting for the food to arrive, Adjutant Dan McCaskill gave his report. With the Membership Renewal Grace 
Period winding down, thirty-eight members have renewed with four still owing dues. We also had one past member 
re-join the Camp. Dues must be in hand no later than August 31st to beat the deadline. The checking account bal-
ance currently stands at $2,422.13 with $475 to be deposited. All dues and Optional Giving have been forwarded to 
their respective agencies. To date, 56% of the Fiscal Budget has been spent. The next big expenditure will be our 
Lee-Jackson Banquet. 
  Dan also gave a brief overview of the recent 2023 National Reunion in Hot Springs, AR. Those representing the 
Camp and Chapter at the Reunion were Larry and Annette McCluney, Gator and Missy Stillman, Dan and Ann 
McCaskill, Missy Stillman, Tommy McCaskill, and Jackson McCaskill. The Reunion was held in the historic Arling-
ton Hotel. Over-all, the Reunion was very peaceable and enjoyable. The only heated moment was debate on an 
amendment allowing CIC succession. All amendments were defeated. The brightest moment of the Reunion was 
approximately $100,000 raised for the Confederate Museum at Elm Springs. Dan encouraged members to continue 
giving to the museum because it is one of the few places in the nation that tells the true history about the Confeder-
acy and the South. 
  At this point, Michael called a recess and asked everyone to partake in the evening meal provided by the ladies of 
the Elle Palmer Chapter #9, OCR.   
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  Camp Business: The first order of business was to adopt the Minutes of 
the July Meeting as printed in The Delta General. Kenneth Ray made a 
motion to adopt the minutes as printed. The motion was seconded by Earl 
McCown and the motion passed.  The second order of business was to 
discuss the Lee-Jackson Banquet. Michael reported he had secured Shelly 
Heidelbaugh as our speaker for the banquet to be held the evening of Janu-
ary 13, 2024. Her topic will be about women who dressed as men and 
fought in the War. She will be coming up from the coast and the Camp will 
provide lodging. Michael asked for members to donate items for the ladies’ 
auction and for members to help with decorating for the banquet. There was 
a discussion about having fried chicken again. There were some complaints 
about last years chicken being over cooked and cold. Kenneth Ray made a 
motion to have the Camp provide fried chicken and members provide cov-
ered dishes. The motion was seconded by Gator Stillman and the motion 
passed. The question was asked about charging $5 per person to help off-
set the cost of the chicken. Kenneth Ray made a motion to charged $5 per 
person for those 12 and older. The motion was seconded by Gator Stillman 
and the motion passed.  
 Upcoming events: Camp Meeting September 9th ; MS DEC Meeting Sep-
tember 16th, time and place TBA; Fall Muster at Beauvoir October 20-22 
  With no other business coming before the Camp, Gator Stillman made a 
motion to adjourn, seconded by Kenneth Ray and the motion passed with-
out objection. Attendance for the meeting was 11. 
  Camp Chaplain closed the meeting with a word of prayer followed by the 
singing of Dixie. 
     

 Chaplain’s Corner —  Earl McCown  
      

THE LORD AND THE WAR BETWEEN THE STATES 
 

     We are all familiar with the story of David and 
Goliath in the Old Testament, 1 Samuel, chapter 
17. As David faced the giant, Goliath, he didn’t 
do so alone, as we see in the Scripture: 
(45)Ê “ThenÊ saidÊ DavidÊ toÊ theÊ Philistine,Ê ThouÊ
comestÊ toÊ meÊ withÊ aÊ sword,Ê andÊ withÊ aÊ spear,Ê
andÊwithÊaÊshield:ÊbutÊIÊcomeÊtoÊtheeÊinÊtheÊnameÊ
ofÊ theÊLORDÊofÊ hosts,Ê theÊGodÊofÊ theÊarmiesÊofÊ
Israel,ÊwhomÊthouÊhastÊdefiled.Ê(46a)ÊThisÊdayÊwillÊ
theÊLORDÊdeliverÊtheeÊ intoÊmineÊhand;ÊandÊIÊwillÊ
smiteÊ thee,…Ê (47)Ê AndÊ allÊ thisÊ assemblyÊ shallÊ
knowÊ thatÊ theÊLORDÊsavethÊnotÊwithÊ swordÊandÊ
spear:Ê forÊ theÊ battleÊ isÊ theÊ LORD’S,Ê andÊ heÊwillÊ
giveÊyouÊintoÊourÊhands.” 
     Many Southerners thought as did David, when it came to war. For many 
Confederate generals, the War was not an event determined solely by men 
who fought each other, but was a contest between the powers of darkness 
and the powers of light. They felt that God would intervene and repel the 
brutal aggressors away from their homeland, and to this end they frequently 
and devoutly implored for divine assistance in their darkest hours. 
    William Nelson Pendleton, as befitted an Episcopalian clergyman, fer-
vently advocated prayer. Both as a minister of God and a brigadier general 
he encouraged his fellow officers and men to pray frequently. He informed 
his son, Sandie Pendleton, who served on Stonewall Jackson’s staff to: 
 
 ‘WatchÊandÊpray.’ÊIfÊyouÊdoÊnotÊmakeÊopportunitiesÊforÊprayerÊyouÊ
willÊspirituallyÊdie. 
 ÊÊLetÊnothingÊpreventÊ this.ÊByÊdwellingÊonÊ theÊseveralÊpetitionsÊofÊ
theÊLord’sÊPrayerÊuntil 
 ÊÊeachÊwordÊimpressesÊonÊtheÊmindÊitsÊfullÊforceÊandÊstirsÊupÊfeel-
ing,ÊIÊgetÊ,moreÊofÊtheÊspiritÊofÊ ÊÊÊ ÊÊprayerÊ thanÊ IÊ haveÊ beenÊ ableÊ toÊ
secureÊinÊanyÊotherÊway. 
 
     Both father and son were well aware of the consequences of allowing 
one’s relationship with the Lord to suffer as a result of temporal activities, 
and so they worked together in encouraging one another to maintain their 
prayer life. Only by taking time for prayer could they hope that God would 
answer their prayers for themselves and for their country. 
     Fervent, sincere pray still works. Our country could sure use more of the 
concept of keeping God in our lives and in our nation. 
     Don’t you think? 

 
 
 
 
 

 

News from B/G Charles Clarke 
Chapter 253 Military Order of 

the Stars and Bars 
     For those of you that are not familiar with General 
Clark (for whom our Chapter is named), I thought a 
brief biography of him would be beneficial. 
     Charles Clark was born in Lebanon, Ohio, near 
Cincinnati, on May 24, 1811. After graduating from Augusta College in Ken-
tucky in 1831, Clark moved to Mississippi, where he taught school and stud-
ied law. After being admitted to the bar, Clark practiced law and became 
active in politics as a member of the Whig Party. 
     During the 1840s, Clark accepted a large tract of land between Beulah, 
Mississippi, and the Mississippi River as his legal fee for a case that ap-
peared before the Mississippi Supreme Court. He developed a plantation 
there named “Doe-Roe,” which the locals caller “Doro.” Clark became a 
slave owner and one of the wealthiest planters in Mississippi. 
     When the Mexican-American War began, Clark organized the Thomas 
Hinds Guards, an infantry company that became part of the 2nd  Regiment of 
Mississippi Volunteers. Clark initially served as a captain and later as a 
colonel. 
     During the controversy over the extension of slavery in the American 
Southwest after the Mexican-American War, Clark remained a Unionist and 
supported the Compromise of 1850. In 1856, voters elected him to the Mis-
sissippi State Legislature, where he served until 1861. In 1860, Clark joined 
the Democratic Party and became an advocate for secession. He was a 
delegate to both Democratic conventions in Charleston and Baltimore that 
year, and he supported the presidential candidacy of John C. Breckinridge. 
     When the Civil War began, Clark received commissions as a brigadier 
general and later as a major general of Mississippi state troops. When the 
Confederate Army absorbed the Mississippi militia, Clarke became a briga-
dier general, effective May 22, 1861. Clark served as a brigade commander 
under Albert Sidney Johnston in Kentucky. Clark suffered a shoulder injury 
while commanding the 1st Division of the Army of the Mississippi at the Bat-
tle of Shiloh (April 6-7, 1862). Upon returning to active duty, federal troops 
wounded Clark and captured him while he commanded a division during the 
Battle of Baton Rouge (August 5, 1862). Union authorities imprisoned Clark 
at New Orleans until February 1863. Clark’s injuries cost him the use of his 
legs for the rest of his life and forced him to leave active service. 
     On October 5, 1863, voters elected Clark as Governor of Mississippi. He 
served in that capacity for the rest of the Civil War. As the Confederacy 
disintegrated, federal authorities arrested Clark in the spring of 1865 and 
imprisoned him at Fort Pulaski, Georgia. On September 2, 1865, Clark 
signed an oath of allegiance to the United States. Union officials pardoned 
and released Clark from prison in late September or early October of that 
year. After his release from prison, Clark returned to practicing law and 
managing his plantation. When reconstruction ended, Clark received an 
appointment as the chancellor of the fourth judicial district in 1876. He 
served on the bench the rest of his life. Clarke dies on December 18, 1877, 
in Bolivar County, Mississippi. He was buried on his plantation in Mississippi 
(now Clark Cemetery). 
 
Mississippi Division News: 

Guardians needed  
     Everyone knows the atmosphere in this country 
where it comes to anything Confederate. Last summer 
we saw how vulnerable our Memorials were to the 
rioters. Sadly, it has spread to the cemeteries the place 
where the left wants all the Memorials moved. In the 
past few weeks, the Sleeping Lion Memorial to the Confederate dead in 
Oakwood Cemetery in Atlanta, GA has been removed. Our Confederate 
Dead and our Memorials are at risk to removal and vandalism. This why we 
need Guardians to watch over our Memorials and burial sites of our Confed-
erate Dead. Most of our members live in Counties with Confederate Memori-
al Monuments and all live near a cemetery where Confederate Dead are 
buried. The Mississippi Division has the MS Division Guardian Program for 
burial sites where a person adopts a burial site or several sites and watches 
over the site ensuring it is properly cared for. The Division now has the MS 
Division Monument Guardian Program. With this program, a person signs 
up to keep watch on a Memorial. There is a contact person to report any 
vandalism and/or threats of removal. If anyone is interested in this program 
please see the attached application and information to find out more on the 
following page 
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National SCV News 
 

SAVE THE DATE Stephen D. Lee Institute 
February 16-17, 2024   Columbia, TN  

 
Compatriots, 
 
     The theme this year is " Who we are- as a people and an organiza-
tion". The Friday night reception will be held at the National Confeder-
ate Museum.  
     Some of the presenters include: 
 
Dan Dorrill 
Ben Sewell 
Forrest Daws 
Chris Sullivan 
Frank Powell 
Ron Kennedy 
MC- Chuck McMichael 
 
Registration and Hotel information will be posted by the end of Sum-
mer. Make you plans now! 

SCV Chat — Every Monday Night on Facebook at 7:00 
PM Central Ɵme and on Thursday Nights at 7:00 PM 
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ANNOUNCEMENT OF CANDIDACY 
FOR ARMY OF TENNESSEE  

COMMANDER IN 2024 
 
Fellow Compatriots, 
     For those who may not know me, my name is Tom Wood, and I currently 
serve as the Tennessee Division Adjutant and have served in that position 
for the past eight years. After much thought, prayerful consideration, and 
discussion with my wife, I have decided to present myself as a candidate for 
the office of Army of Tennessee Commander in 2024. I am a 7th generation 
Tennessean proud of my ancestors and my honored heritage and I will al-
ways continue to fight to restore the South to its once very valued place in 
society. 
     I am a retired Air Force Reserve Officer with 20 years of service. I am 
also a retired construction executive with a 40-year career, retiring from 
Lipscomb University in Nashville as the Director of Construction and Physi-
cal Plant Operations in 2014. My wife, Nancy, is a retired school teacher of 
25 years, and an active member of the Order of Confederate Rose. She 
serves on the Tennessee OCR state staff, as well as an OCR chapter presi-
dent.  
     My wife and I both enjoy traveling and would welcome the opportunity 
and privilege to travel around and visit divisions and camps in the Army of 
Tennessee as your AOT Commander to provide you strong representation 
and direct communication to the National level.  
It has been my honor to be a member of The Sons of Confederate Veterans 
for 25 great years. During my tenure as Tennessee Division Adjutant we 
have experienced a time of growth and many tremendous successes for the 
division with many added responsibilities to manage. I also currently serve 
as the commander for the General Robert H. Hatton Camp # 723 in Leba-
non, Tennessee. I have served my camp in a variety of staff positions includ-
ing multiple terms as commander over those 25 years of service. I was hon-
ored to be selected as the “Man of the Year” in the Tennessee Division in 
2022. 
During my tenure as commander our camp has grown and been extremely 
active in preservation of our Southern Heritage. Last April our camp received 
the “Outstanding Camp of the Year Award” for 2022-2023 in the Tennessee 
Division. The camp also received the “Outstanding Media Coverage Award” 
for the year.  Our camp presented the “Robert E. Lee Award” for people 
outside the SCV for outstanding service to one state senator and a state 
representative who represents our district and who are strong supporters of 
the SCV and our heritage. They were very grateful of such an honor and are 
always supportive of all of our heritage efforts in the legislature. 
I am a life member of both SCV National, as well as a life member of the 
Tennessee Division. I have been a member of Morgan’s Men Association 
and the Military Order of the Stars and Bars for over 20 years. I am part of 
the Tennessee SCV Speakers Bureau and have spoken many times to 
camps across Tennessee on a variety of subjects. I have authored several 
articles for The Sentinel Newsletter and the Tennessee Division Forrest 
Escort on a variety of topics.  
I would now like to use my leadership skills as your representative on the 
General Executive Council and to be your voice as we go for-
ward.  Communications has always been a spirited conversation in our or-
ganization, and I would like to be in a position where I can work towards 
improving communications for our members. 
     Recruitment and retention are two critical and vital keys to our continued 
success. I have recruited several over the years and I will continue my ef-
forts in that regard and encourage all members to reach out. Future mem-
bers are out there, but we must be bold in getting our word out and inviting 
people to join us. My camp this past year had a 99% retention, but we had 
one member we could not convince to continue even though we tried hard. 
We must follow up with members who fall by the wayside, because for them 
to know they are needed and appreciated is a huge part of retention. Our 
camps must be active and have worthwhile meetings so our members un-
derstand they are part of something important and not just a social club that 
meets periodically. 
     This decision to be a candidate for AOT Commander has not been lightly 
decided but has been well considered for some time. I realize the obligation 
and dedication that this position needs and requires and I am willing to meet 
those demands. I now have the time and the opportunity to fulfill the require-
ments of this position. I am grateful for your consideration in voting for me as 
your AOT Commander at our next election. 
  
Yours In Service to the South, 
Tom Wood 
Tennessee Division Adjutant 
General Robert H. Hatton Camp # 723 Commander 

ANNOUNCEMENT OF 
CANDIDACY FOR ARMY 

OF TENNESSEE  
COMMANDER IN 2024 

 
Compatriots of the Army of Tennessee, 
     It has been my distinct honor to serve as 
your Army Councilman for the past three 
years. In that time, I’ve fielded many phone 
calls and emails and visited many Camps and 
functions as well as taken part in the carrying out of training workshops put 
on around our Army. Likewise, I’ve attended every National Reunion and 
every GEC meeting in addition to a number of those which were held by 
teleconference and/or online. I’ve done my best in this capacity to represent 
the best interests of our Divisions, our members and our esteemed organi-
zation. 
     The Sons of Confederate Veterans is an organization with a mission that 
is not only near and dear to my heart, but it is a big part of who I am. I be-
lieve absolutely in the Cause that our ancestors contended for and I make 
every effort to spread the truth of that Cause at every opportunity that I am 
afforded. Over the years I’ve done more interviews with media talking heads 
than I can count and have stood face to face in head-on debate with a well-
known group that is highly and militantly adversarial towards our organiza-
tion and our Heritage. I have long held the belief that it is my mission in life 
to know the truth of the history of our Southland and to relay that truth. 
     Having joined the Sons of Confederate Veterans in 2004 I have served in 
just about every office at the Camp level in addition to many Division Offices 
to include Chief of Staff, Brigade Commander, 2nd Lt Commander from 
2012 to 2016, 1st Lt Commander from 2016 to 2018 and Alabama Division 
Commander from 2018 to 2020. I’ve served as Chief of Heritage Operations 
for the Army of Tennessee from 2010 to 2012, National Chief of Heritage 
Operations from 2016 to 2018, National Deputy Chief of Heritage Defense 
from 2018 to 2020 and AoT Councilman from 2020 until the present. 
     As Commander of the Alabama Division I undertook the mission of 
“building the SCV by building the Camps” and worked across Division lines 
with the Tennessee Division to erect a monument on our property at the 
Forrest Boyhood Home. I’ve been instrumental in putting on education con-
ferences that were designed to bring nationally known speakers to our mem-
bers at an affordable price in an effort to educate us on our history. I believe 
fervently that the Camps are the backbone of this organization and that by 
training Camps in areas that will help them to grow and run more efficiently 
we will likewise benefit the overall health of our entire organization. I stand 
by that assertion and belief.  
     The health of our organization is crucial, not only to the perpetuation of 
“The Charge” given to us by General Stephen D. Lee, but to our entire 
Southland. The enemies aligned against us are not merely trying to destroy 
monuments and change the names of schools and streets- They are trying 
to erase US as a people. The Southern tradition is a threat to the ultra-left 
and their radical agenda and we must fight back against this with everything 
we can intellectually muster. The SCV is the premier entity in this fight and 
at times it seems we are the only entity! We must be as determined as our 
adversaries and we must work in a manner that is smart and effective to 
curtail their efforts. We must train and equip our Camps to be our voice and 
a formidable influence in the local community, and we must attract the gen-
eral public to take up our Cause. The polls are clear that the public is on our 
side, but we must harness that support and put it to active use for our pur-
pose and our mission.  
     While the Camp is the backbone of this organization, to formulate a co-
herent and cohesive message that will resonate throughout our Army, Divi-
sions, Brigades and Camps we must have strong representation at every 
level of the SCV, including on the General Executive Council. We must have 
people with experience and who can bring new ideas to the table, as well as 
who can work with the others in elected positions. Gentlemen, I believe I 
have the ideas and that experience and, after much thought and prayer, it is 
with great reverence for you and all that you are doing for our Cause that I 
announce my candidacy for the position of Commander of the Army of Ten-
nessee and humbly ask for your support. I am, 
 
Yours in the Cause, 
Carl Jones 
Councilman, Army of Tennessee 
Sons of Confederate Veterans 
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Battle of  Chickamauga 
 
     In his successful Tullahoma Campaign in the summer of 1863, 
Rosecrans moved southeast from Murfreesboro, Tennessee, outmaneuver-
ing Bragg and forcing him to abandon Middle Tennessee and withdraw to 
the city of Chattanooga, suffering only 569 Union casualties along the way.
[11] General-in-chief Maj. Gen. Henry W. Halleck and President Abraham 
Lincoln were insistent that Rosecrans move quickly to take Chattanooga. 
Seizing the city would open the door for the Union to advance to-
ward Atlanta and the heartland of the South. Chattanooga was a vital rail 
hub (with lines going north toward Nashville and Knoxville and south toward 
Atlanta), and an important manufacturing center for the production of iron 
and coke, located on the navigable Tennessee River. Situated be-
tween Lookout Mountain, Missionary Ridge, Raccoon Mountain, and String-
er's Ridge, Chattanooga occupied an important, defensible position.[12] 
     Although Braxton Bragg's Army of Tennessee had about 52,000 men at 
the end of July, the Confederate government merged the Department of 
East Tennessee, under Maj. Gen. Simon B. Buckner, into Bragg's Depart-
ment of Tennessee, which added 17,800 men to Bragg's army, a total of 
69,800 men, but also extended his command responsibilities northward to 
the Knoxville area. This brought a third subordinate into Bragg's command 
who had little or no respect for him.[13] Lt. Gen. Leonidas Polk and Maj. 
Gen. William J. Hardee had already made their animosity well known. Buck-
ner's attitude was colored by Bragg's unsuccessful invasion of Buckner's 
native Kentucky in 1862, as well as by the loss of his command through the 
merger.[14] A positive aspect for Bragg was Hardee's request to be trans-
ferred to Mississippi in July, but he was replaced by Lt. Gen. D.H. Hill, a 
general who did not get along with Robert E. Lee in Virginia.[15] 
     The Confederate War Department asked Bragg in early August whether 
he could assume the offensive against Rosecrans if he were given rein-
forcements from Mississippi. He demurred, concerned about 
the daunting geographical obstacles and logistical challeng-
es, preferring to wait for Rosecrans to solve those same 
problems and attack him.[16] He was also concerned about a 
sizable Union force under Maj. Gen. Ambrose E. Burn-
side that was threatening Knoxville. Bragg withdrew his 
forces from advanced positions around Bridgeport, which left 
Rosecrans free to maneuver on the northern side of the 
Tennessee River. He concentrated his two infantry corps 
around Chattanooga and relied upon cavalry to cover his 
flanks, extending from northern Alabama to near Knoxville.
[17] 
     The Confederate government decided to attempt a strate-
gic reversal in the West by sending Bragg reinforcements 
from Virginia—Lt. Gen. James Longstreet with two divisions 
from his First Corps, Army of Northern Virginia—in addition 
to the reinforcements from Mississippi. Chickamauga was 
the first large scale Confederate movement of troops from 
one theater to another with the aim of achieving a period of 
numerical superiority and gaining decisive results. Bragg 
was now more satisfied with the resources provided, and 
looked to strike the Union Army as soon as he achieved the 
strength he needed.[18] 
     The campaign and major battle take their name from 
West Chickamauga Creek. In popular histories, it is often 
said that Chickamauga is a Cherokee word meaning "river of 
death".[19] Peter Cozzens, author of ThisÊTerribleÊSound, 
wrote that this is a "loose translation".[20] Glenn Tucker pre-
sents the translations of "stagnant water" (from the "lower 
Cherokee tongue"), "good country" (from the Chickasaw) 
and "river of death" (dialect of the "upcountry Cherokee"). 
Tucker claims that the "river of death" came by its name not 
from early warfare, but from the location that the Cherokee 
contracted smallpox.[21] James Mooney, in MythsÊofÊtheÊ
Cherokee, wrote that Chickamauga is the more common spelling 
for Tsïkäma'gï, a name that "has no meaning in their language" and is possi-
bly "derived from an Algonquian word referring to a fishing or fish-spearing 
place... if not Shawano it is probably from the Creek or Chickasaw."[22] 
     The most plausible etymology for Chickamauga is that it is from the 
Chickasaw word chokma "be good" plus the verb ending -ka.[23][24] The 
Chickasaw town of Chickamauga was located at the foot of Lookout Moun-
tain. 
     Rosecrans faced significant logistical challenges if he chose to move 
forward. The Cumberland Plateau that separated the armies was a rugged, 
barren country over 30 miles long with poor roads and little opportunity for 
foraging. If Bragg attacked him during the advance, Rosecrans would be 
forced to fight with his back against the mountains and tenuous supply lines. 
He did not have the luxury of staying put, however, because he was under 

intense pressure from Washington to move forward in conjunction with 
Burnside's advance into East Tennessee.     
     By early August, Halleck was frustrated enough with Rosecrans's delay 
that he ordered him to move forward immediately and to report daily the 
movement of each corps until he crossed the Tennessee River. Rosecrans 
was outraged at the tone of "recklessness, conceit and malice" of Halleck's 
order and insisted that he would be courting disaster if he were not permit-
ted to delay his advance until at least August 17.[25] 
     Rosecrans knew that he would have difficulty receiving supplies from his 
base on any advance across the Tennessee River and therefore thought it 
necessary to accumulate enough supplies and transport wagons that he 
could cross long distances without a reliable line of communications. His 
subordinate generals were supportive of this line of reasoning and coun-
seled delay, all except for Brig. Gen. James A. Garfield, Rosecrans's chief of 
staff, a politician who understood the value of being on the record endorsing 
the Lincoln administration's priorities.[26] 
     The plan for the Union advance was to cross the Cumberland Plateau 
into the valley of the Tennessee River, pause briefly to accumulate some 
supplies, and then cross the river itself. An opposed crossing of the wide 
river was not feasible, so Rosecrans devised a deception to distract Bragg 
above Chattanooga while the army crossed downstream. Then the Army 
would advance on a wide front through the mountains. The XXI Corps under 
Maj. Gen. Thomas L. Crittenden would advance against the city from the 
west, the XIV Corps under Maj. Gen. George H. Thomas would cross over 
Lookout Mountain 20 miles south of the city, while the XX Corps under Maj. 
Gen. Alexander M. McCook and the Cavalry Corps under Maj. Gen. David 
S. Stanley would advance even farther to the southeast toward Bragg's 
railroad supply line leading from Atlanta. If executed correctly, this plan 
would cause Bragg to evacuate Chattanooga or be trapped in the city with-
out supplies.[27] 
     Rosecrans ordered his army to move on August 16. The difficult road 

conditions meant a full week passed before they reached the Tennessee 
River Valley. They encamped while engineers made preparations for cross-
ing the river. Meanwhile, Rosecrans's deception plan was under-
way. Col. John T. Wilder of the XIV Corps moved his mounted infantry bri-
gade (the Lightning Brigade, which first saw prominence at Hoover's Gap) to 
the north of Chattanooga. His men pounded on tubs and sawed boards, 
sending pieces of wood downstream, to make the Confederates think that 
rafts were being constructed for a crossing north of the city. His artillery, 
commanded by Capt. Eli Lilly, bombarded the city from Stringer's Ridge for 
two weeks, an operation sometimes known as the Second Battle of Chatta-
nooga. The deception worked and Bragg was convinced that the Union 
crossing would be above the city, in conjunction with Burnside's advanc-
ing Army of the Ohio from Knoxville.[28]  
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     The first crossing of the Tennessee River was accomplished by the XX 
Corps at Caperton's Ferry, 4 miles from Stevenson on August 29, where 
construction began on a 1,250-foot pontoon bridge. The second crossing, of 
the XIV Corps, was at Shellmound, Tennessee, on August 30. They were 
quickly followed by most of the XXI Corps. The fourth crossing site was at 
the mouth of Battle Creek, Tennessee, where the rest of the XIV Corps 
crossed on August 31. Without permanent bridges, the Army of the Cum-
berland could not be supplied reliably, so another bridge was constructed at 
Bridgeport by Maj. Gen. Philip Sheridan's division, spanning 2,700 feet 
(820 m) in three days. Virtually all of the Union army, other than elements of 
the Reserve Corps kept behind to guard the railroad, had safely crossed the 
river by September 4. They faced more mountainous terrain and road net-
works that were just as treacherous as the ones they had already traversed.
[29] 
     The Confederate high command was concerned about this development 
and took steps to reinforce the Army of Tennessee. General Joseph E. 
Johnston's army dispatched on loan two weak divisions (about 9,000 men) 
from Mississippi under Maj. Gen. John C. Breckinridge and Maj. 
Gen. William H. T. Walker by September 4, and General Robert E. 
Lee dispatched a corps under Lt. Gen. James Longstreet from the Army of 
Northern Virginia. Only five brigades (about 5,000 effectives) from two of 
Longstreet's divisions arrived in time for the second day of the Battle of 
Chickamauga on September 20.[30] 
     The three in-
fantry corps of 
Rosecrans's army 
advanced by sep-
arate routes, on 
the only three 
roads that were 
suitable for such 
movements. On 
the right flank, 
McCook's XX 
Corps moved 
southwest 
to Valley Head, 
Alabama; in the 
center, Thomas's 
XIV Corps moved 
just across the 
border to Trenton, 
Georgia; and on 
the left, Crittend-
en's XXI Corps 
moved directly 
toward Chattanoo-
ga around Lookout 
Mountain. On 
September 8, after 
learning that 
Rosecrans had 
crossed into his 
rear, Bragg evacu-
ated Chattanooga 
and moved his 
army south along 
the LaFayette 
Road to-
ward LaFayette, Georgia. The Union army occupied Chattanooga on Sep-
tember 9. Rosecrans telegraphed Halleck, "Chattanooga is ours without a 
struggle and East Tennessee is free."[31] Bragg was aware of Rosecrans's 
dispositions and planned to defeat him by attacking his isolated corps indi-
vidually. The corps were spread out over 40 miles (65 km), too far apart to 
support each other.[32] 
     Rosecrans was convinced that Bragg was demoralized and fleeing to 
either Dalton, Rome, or Atlanta, Georgia. Instead, Bragg's Army of Tennes-
see was encamped at LaFayette, some 20 miles (32 km) south of Chatta-
nooga. Confederate soldiers who posed as deserters deliberately added to 
this impression. Thomas firmly cautioned Rosecrans that a pursuit of Bragg 
was unwise because the Army of the Cumberland was too widely dispersed 
and its supply lines were tenuous. Rosecrans, exultant at his success in 
capturing Chattanooga, discounted Thomas's advice. He ordered McCook 
to swing across Lookout Mountain at Winston's Gap and use his cavalry to 
break Bragg's railroad supply line at Resaca, Georgia. Crittenden was to 
take Chattanooga and then turn south in pursuit of Bragg. Thomas was to 
continue his advance toward LaFayette.[33] 
Thomas's lead division, under Maj. Gen. James Negley, intended to 
cross McLemore's Cove and use Dug Gap in Pigeon Mountain to reach 

LaFayette. Negley was 12 hours ahead of Brig. Gen. Absalom Baird's divi-
sion, the nearest reinforcements. Braxton Bragg hoped to trap Negley by 
attacking through the cove from the northeast, forcing the Union division to 
its destruction at the cul-de-sac at the southwest end of the valley. Early on 
the morning of September 10, Bragg ordered Polk's division under Maj. 
Gen. Thomas C. Hindman to march 13 miles southwest into the cove and 
strike Negley's flank. He also ordered D.H. Hill to send Cleburne's division 
from LaFayette through Dug Gap to strike Negley's front, making sure the 
movement was coordinated with Hindman's.[34] 
     Entering the cove with 4,600 men, Negley's division encountered Con-
federate skirmishers, but pressed forward to Davis's Cross Roads. Informed 
that there was a large Confederate force approaching on his left, Negley 
took up a position in the mouth of the cove and remained there until 3 a.m. 
on September 11. Hill claimed that Bragg's orders reached him very late 
and began offering excuses for why he could not advance—Cleburne was 
sick in bed and the road through Dug Gap was obstructed by felled timber. 
He advised calling off the operation. Hindman, who had executed Bragg's 
orders promptly and had advanced to within 4 miles (6.4 km) of Negley's 
division, became overly cautious when he realized that Hill would not be 
attacking on schedule and ordered his men to stop. Bragg reinforced Hind-
man with two divisions of Buckner's corps, which were encamped near Lee 
and Gordon's Mill. When Buckner reached Hindman at 5 p.m. on Septem-
ber 10, the Confederates outnumbered Negley's division 3 to 1, but failed to 

attack.[35] 
     Infuriated that his 
orders were being 
defied and a golden 
opportunity was 
being lost, Bragg 
issued new orders 
for Hindman to at-
tack early Septem-
ber 11. Cleburne, 
who was not sick as 
Hill had claimed, 
cleared the felled 
timber from Dug Gap 
and prepared to 
advance when he 
heard the sound of 
Hindman's guns. By 
this time, however, 
Baird's division had 
reached Negley's, 
and Negley had 
withdrawn his divi-
sion to a defensive 
position just east of 
the crossroads. The 
two Union divisions 
then withdrew to 
Stevens Gap. Hind-
man's men skir-
mished with Baird's 
rear guard, but could 
not prevent the with-
drawal of the Union 
force.[36] 
     Realizing that 

part of his force had narrowly escaped a Confederate trap, Rosecrans 
abandoned his plans for a pursuit and began to concentrate his scattered 
forces.[37] As he wrote in his official report, it was "a matter of life and 
death."[37] On September 12 he ordered McCook and the cavalry to move 
northeast to Stevens Gap to join with Thomas, intending for this combined 
force to continue northeast to link up with Crittenden. The message to 
McCook took a full day to reach him at Alpine and the route he selected to 
move northeast required three days of marching 57 miles, retracing his 
steps over Lookout Mountain.[38] 
     Crittenden's corps began moving from Ringgold toward Lee and Gor-
don's Mill. Forrest's cavalry reported the movement across the Confederate 
front and Bragg saw another offensive opportunity. He ordered Lt. 
Gen. Leonidas Polk to attack Crittenden's lead division, under Brig. 
Gen. Thomas J. Wood, at dawn on September 13, with Polk's corps and 
Walker's corps. Bragg rode to the scene after hearing no sound of battle 
and found that there were no preparations being made to attack. Once 
again, Bragg was angry that one of his subordinates did not attack as or-
dered, but by that morning it was too late—all of Crittenden's corps had 
passed by and concentrated at Lee and Gordon's Mill.[39] 
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     For the next four days, both armies attempted to improve their disposi-
tions. Rosecrans continued to concentrate his forces, intending to withdraw 
as a single body to Chattanooga. Bragg, learning of McCook's movement at 
Alpine, feared the Federals might be planning a double envelopment. At a 
council of war on September 15, Bragg's corps commanders agreed that an 
offensive in the direction of Chattanooga offered their best option.[40] 
     By September 17, McCook's corps had reached Stevens Gap and the 
three Union corps were now much less vulnerable to individual defeat. Yet 
Bragg decided that he still had an opportunity. Reinforced with two divisions 
arriving from Virginia under Lt. Gen. James Longstreet, and a division from 
Mississippi under Brig. Gen. Bushrod R. Johnson, he decided to move his 
army northward on the morning of September 18 and advance toward Chat-
tanooga, forcing Rosecrans's army out to fight or to withdraw. If Rosecrans 
fought, he risked being driven back into McLemore's Cove. The Confederate 
army was to move beyond the Federal left flank at Lee and Gordon's Mill 
and then cross West Chickamauga Creek. He specified four crossing points, 
from north to south: Johnson's division at Reed's Bridge, Walker's Reserve 
Corps at Alexander's Bridge, Buckner's corps at Thedford's Ford, and Polk's 
corps at Dalton's Ford. Hill's corps would anchor the army's left flank and the 
cavalry under Forrest and Wheeler would cover Bragg's right and left flanks, 
respectively.[41] 
     Bushrod Johnson's division took the wrong road from Ringgold, but even-
tually headed west on the Reed's Bridge Road. At 7 a.m. his men encoun-
tered cavalry pickets from Col. Robert Minty's brigade, guarding the ap-
proach to Reed's Bridge. Being outnumbered five to one, Minty's men even-
tually withdrew across the bridge after being pressured by elements of For-
rest's cavalry, but could not destroy the bridge and prevent Johnson's men 
from crossing. At 4:30 p.m., when Johnson had reached Jay's Mill, Maj. 
Gen. John Bell Hood of Longstreet's Corps arrived from the railroad station 
at Catoosa and took command of the column. He ordered Johnson to use 
the Jay's Mill Road instead of the Brotherton Road, as Johnson had 
planned.[46] 
     At Alexander's Bridge to the south, Col. John T. Wilder's mounted infan-
try brigade defended the crossing against the approach of Walker's Corps. 
Armed with Spencer repeating rifles and Capt. Lilly's four guns of the 18th 
Indiana Battery, Wilder was able to hold off a brigade of Brig. Gen. St. John 
Liddell's division, which suffered 105 casualties against Wilder's superior 
firepower. Walker moved his men downstream a mile to Lambert's Ford, an 
unguarded crossing, and was able to cross around 4:30 p.m., considerably 
behind schedule. Wilder, concerned about his left flank after Minty's loss of 
Reed's Bridge, withdrew and established a new blocking position east of the 
Lafayette Road, near the Viniard farm.[47] 
     By dark, Johnson's division had halted in front of Wilder's position. Walk-
er had crossed the creek, but his troops were well scattered along the road 
behind Johnson. Buckner had been able to push only one brigade across 
the creek at Thedford's Ford. Polk's troops were facing Crittenden's at Lee 
and Gordon's Mill and D.H. Hill's corps guarded crossing sites to the south.
[48] 
     Although Bragg had achieved some degree of surprise, he failed to ex-
ploit it strongly. Rosecrans, observing the dust raised by the marching Con-
federates in the morning, anticipated Bragg's plan. He ordered Thomas and 
McCook to Crittenden's support, and while the Confederates were crossing 
the creek, Thomas began to arrive in Crittenden's rear area.[49] 
     Rosecrans's movement of Maj. Gen. George H. Thomas's XIV Corps the 
previous day put the left flank of the Army of the Cumberland farther north 
than Bragg expected when he formulated his plans for an attack on Septem-
ber 20. Maj. Gen. Thomas L. Crittenden's XXI Corps was concentrated 
around Lee and Gordon's Mill, which Bragg assumed was the left flank, but 
Thomas was arrayed behind him, covering a wide front from Crawfish 
Springs (division of Maj. Gen. James S. Negley), the Widow Glenn's house 
(Maj. Gen. Joseph J. Reynolds), Kelly field (Brig. Gen. Absalom Baird), to 
around the McDonald farm (Brig. Gen. John M. Brannan). Maj. Gen. Gordon 
Granger's Reserve Corps was spread along the northern end of the battle-
field from Rossville to McAfee's Church.[51] 
     Bragg's plan called for an attack on the supposed Union left flank by the 
corps of Maj. Gens. Simon B. Buckner, John Bell Hood, and W.H.T. Walker, 
screened by Brig. Gen. Nathan Bedford Forrest's cavalry to the north, with 
Maj. Gen. Benjamin F. Cheatham's division held in reserve in the center and 
Maj. Gen. Patrick R. Cleburne's division in reserve at Thedford's Ford. Maj. 
Gen. Thomas C. Hindman's division faced Crittenden at Lee and Gordon's 
Mill and Breckinridge's faced Negley.[52] 
     The Battle of Chickamauga opened almost by accident, when pickets 
from Col. Daniel McCook's brigade of Granger's Reserve Corps moved to-
ward Jay's Mill in search of water. McCook had moved from Rossville on 
September 18 to aid Col. Robert Minty's brigade. His men established a 
defensive position several hundred yards northwest of Jay's Mill, about 
equally distant from where the 1st Georgia Cavalry waited through the night 
south of the mill. At about the time that McCook sent a regiment to destroy 
Reed's Bridge (which would survive the second attempt in two days to de-

stroy it), Brig. Gen. Henry Davidson of Forrest's Cavalry Corps sent the 1st 
Georgia forward and they encountered some of McCook's men near the mill. 
McCook was ordered by Granger to withdraw back to Rossville, and his men 
were pursued by Davidson's troopers. McCook encountered Thomas at the 
LaFayette Road, having finished an all-night march from Crawfish Springs. 
McCook reported to Thomas that a single Confederate infantry brigade was 
trapped on the west side of Chickamauga Creek. Thomas told Brannan's 
division to attack and destroy it.[53] 
     Brannan sent three brigades in response to Thomas's order: 
Col. Ferdinand Van Derveer's brigade moved southeast on the Reed's 
Bridge Road, with Col. John Croxton's brigade on his right. Col. John Con-
nell's brigade came up behind in reserve. Croxton's men drove back Da-
vidson's advanced cavalrymen and Forrest formed a defensive line of dis-
mounted troopers to stem the tide. Croxton halted his advance because he 
was unsure of Forrest's strength. Forrest requested reinforcements from 
Bragg and Walker near Alexander's Bridge and Walker ordered 
Col. Claudius Wilson's brigade forward about 9 a.m., hitting Croxton's right 
flank. Forrest protected his own right flank by deploying the brigade of 
Col. George Dibrell, which ran into Van Derveer's brigade and came to a halt 
under fire. Forrest sent in Brig. Gen. Matthew Ector's brigade, part of Walk-
er's Reserve Corps, but without Walker's knowledge. Ector's men replaced 
Dibrell's in line, but they were also unable to drive Van Derveer from his 
position.[54] 
     Brannan's division was holding its ground against Forrest and his infantry 
reinforcements, but their ammunition was running low. Thomas sent Baird's 
division to assist, which advanced with two brigades forward and one in 
reserve. Brig. Gen. John King's brigade of U.S. Army regulars relieved Crox-
ton. The brigade of Col. Benjamin Scribner took up a position on King's right 
and Col. John Starkweather's brigade remained in reserve. With superior 
numbers and firepower, Scribner and King were able to start pushing back 
Wilson and Ector.[55] 
     Bragg committed the division of Brig. Gen. St. John R. Liddell to the fight, 
countering Thomas's reinforcements. The brigades of Col. Daniel Go-
van and Brig. Gen. Edward Walthall advanced along the Alexander's Bridge 
Road, smashing Baird's right flank. Both Scribner's and Starkweather's bri-
gades retreated in panic, followed by King's regulars, who dashed for the 
rear through Van Derveer's brigade. Van Derveer's men halted the Confed-
erate advance with a concentrated volley at close range. Liddell's exhausted 
men began to withdraw and Croxton's brigade, returning to the action, 
pushed them back beyond the Winfrey field.[56] 
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to the action, pushed them back beyond the Winfrey field.[56] 
     Believing that Rosecrans was attempting to move the center of the battle 
farther north than Bragg planned, Bragg began rushing heavy reinforce-
ments from all parts of his line to his right, starting with Cheatham's division 
of Polk's Corps, the largest in the Army of Tennessee with five brigades. At 
11 a.m., Cheatham's men approached Liddell's halted division and formed 
on its left. Three brigades under Brig. Gens. Marcus Wright, Preston Smith, 
and John Jackson formed the front line and Brig. Gens. Otho 
Strahl and George Maney commanded the brigades in the second line. Their 
advance greatly overlapped Croxton's brigade and had no difficulty pushing 
it back. As Croxton withdrew, his brigade was replaced by Brig. 
Gen. Richard Johnson's division of McCook's XX Corps near the LaFayette 
Road. Johnson's lead brigades, under Col. Philemon Baldwin and Brig. 
Gen. August Willich engaged Jackson's brigade, protecting Croxton's with-
drawal. Although outnumbered, Jackson held under the pressure until his 
ammunition ran low and he called for reinforcements. Cheatham sent in 
Maney's small brigade to replace Jackson, but they were no match for the 
two larger Federal brigades and Maney was forced to withdraw as both of 
his flanks were crushed.[57] 
     Additional Union reinforcements arrived shortly after Johnson. Maj. Gen. 
John Palmer's division of Crittenden's corps marched from Lee and Gor-
don's Mill and advanced into the fight with three brigades in line—the bri-
gades of Brig. Gen. William Hazen, Brig. Gen. Charles Cruft, and 
Col. William Grose—against the Confederate brigades of Wright and Smith. 
Smith's brigade bore the brunt of the attack in the Brock field and was re-
placed by Strahl's brigade, which also had to withdraw under the pressure. 
Two more Union brigades followed Palmer's division, from Brig. 
Gen. Horatio Van Cleve's division of the XXI corps, who formed on the left 
flank of Wright's brigade. The attack of Brig. Gen. Samuel Beatty's brigade 
was the tipping point that caused Wright's brigade to join the retreat with 
Cheatham's other units.[58] 
     For a third time, Bragg ordered a fresh division to move in, this time Maj. 
Gen. Alexander P. Stewart's (Buckner's corps) from its position at Thedford 
Ford around noon. Stewart encountered Wright's retreating brigade at the 
Brock farm and decided to attack Van Cleve's position on his left, a decision 
he made under his own authority. With his brigades deployed in column, 
Brig. Gen. Henry Clayton's was the first to hit three Federal brigades around 
the Brotherton Farm. Firing until their ammunition was gone, Clayton's men 
were replaced with Brig. Gen. John Brown's brigade. Brown drove Beatty's 
and Dick's men from the woods east of the LaFayette Road and paused to 
regroup. Stewart committed his last brigade, under Brig. Gen. William Bate, 
around 3:30 p.m. and routed Van Cleve's division. Hazen's brigade was 
caught up in the retreat as they were replenishing their ammunition. Col. 
James Sheffield's brigade from Hood's division drove back Grose's and 
Cruft's brigades. Brig. Gen. John Turchin's brigade (Reynolds's division) 
counterattacked and briefly held off Sheffield, but the Confederates had 
caused a major penetra-
tion in the Federal line in 
the area of the Brotherton 
and Dyer fields. Stewart 
did not have sufficient 
forces to maintain that 
position, and was forced to 
order Bate to withdraw 
east of the Lafayette Road.
[59] 
     At around 2 p.m., the 
division of Brig. 
Gen. Bushrod R. John-
son (Hood's corps) en-
countered the advance of 
Union Brig. Gen. Jefferson 
C. Davis's two brigade 
division of the XX corps, 
marching north from Craw-
fish Springs. Johnson's 
men attacked Col. Hans 
Heg's brigade on Davis's 
left and forced it across the 
LaFayette Road. Hood 
ordered Johnson to contin-
ue the attack by crossing 
the LaFayette Road with 
two brigades in line and 
one in reserve. The two 
brigades drifted apart dur-
ing the attack. On the right, 
Col. John Fulton's brigade 
routed King's brigade and 

linked up with Bate at Brotherton field. On the left, Brig. Gen. John Gregg's 
brigade attacked Wilder's Union brigade in its reserve position at the Viniard 
Farm. Gregg was seriously wounded and his brigade advance halted. Brig. 
Gen. Evander McNair's brigade, called up from the rear, also lost their cohe-
sion during the advance.[60] 
     Union Brig. Gen. Thomas J. Wood's division was ordered to march north 
from Lee and Gordon's Mill around 3 p.m. His brigade under Col. George P. 
Buell was posted north of the Viniard house while Col. Charles Harker's 
brigade continued up the LaFayette Road. Harker's brigade arrived in the 
rear of Fulton's and McNair's Confederate regiments, firing into their backs. 
Although the Confederates retreated to the woods east of the road, Harker 
realized he was isolated and quickly withdrew. At the Viniard house, Buell's 
men were attacked by part of Brig. Gen. Evander M. Law's division of 
Hood's corps. The brigades of Brig. Gens. Jerome B. Robertson and Henry 
L. Benning pushed southwest toward the Viniard field, pushing back Brig. 
Gen. William Carlin's brigade (Davis's division) and fiercely struck Buell's 
brigade, pushing them back behind Wilder's line. Hood's and Johnson's 
men, pushing strongly forward, approached so close to Rosecrans's new 
headquarters at the tiny cabin of Widow Eliza Glenn that the staff officers 
inside had to shout to make themselves heard over the sounds of battle. 
There was a significant risk of a Federal rout in this part of the line. Wilder's 
men eventually held back the Confederate advance, fighting from behind a 
drainage ditch.[61] 
     The Federals launched several unsuccessful counterattacks late in the 
afternoon to regain the ground around the Viniard house. Col. Heg was 
mortally wounded during one of these advances. Late in the day, Rosecrans 
deployed almost his last reserve, Maj. Gen. Philip Sheridan's division of 
McCook's corps. Marching north from Lee and Gordon's Mill, Sheridan took 
the brigades of Cols. Luther Bradley and Bernard Laiboldt. Bradley's brigade 
was in the lead and it was able to push the heavily outnumbered brigades of 
Robertson and Benning out of Viniard field. Bradley was wounded during the 
attack.[62] 
     By 6 p.m., darkness was falling, and Braxton Bragg had not abandoned 
his idea of pushing the Federal army to the south. He ordered Maj. Gen. 
Patrick Cleburne's division (Hill's corps) to join Polk on the army's right flank. 
This area of the battlefield had been quiet for several hours as the fighting 
moved progressively southward. George Thomas had been consolidating 
his lines, withdrawing slightly to the west to what he considered a superior 
defensive position. Richard Johnson's division and Absalom Baird's brigade 
were in the rear of Thomas's westward migration, covering the withdrawal. 
At sunset Cleburne launched an attack with three brigades in line—from left 
to right, Brig. Gens. James Deshler, Sterling Wood, and Lucius Polk. The 
attack degenerated into chaos in the limited visibility of twilight and smoke 
from burning underbrush. Some of Absalom Baird's men advanced to sup-
port Baldwin's Union brigade, but mistakenly fired at them and were subject-
ed to return friendly fire. Baldwin was shot dead from his horse attempting to 
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lead a counterattack. Deshler's brigade missed their objective entirely and 
Deshler was shot in the chest while examining ammunition boxes. Brig. Gen. 
Preston Smith led his brigade forward to support Deshler and mistakenly 
rode into the lines of Col. Joseph B. Dodge's brigade (Johnson's division), 
where he was shot down. By 9 p.m. Cleburne's men retained possession of 
the Winfrey field and Johnson and Baird had been driven back inside Thom-
as's new defensive line.[63] 
     Casualties for the first day of battle are difficult to calculate because loss-
es are usually reported for the entire battle. Historian Peter Cozzens wrote 
that "an estimate of between 6,000 and 9,000 Confederates and perhaps 
7,000 Federals seems reasonable."[64] 
     At Braxton Bragg's headquarters at Thedford Ford, the commanding 
general was officially pleased with the day's events. He reported that "Night 
found us masters of the ground, after a series of very obstinate contests with 
largely superior numbers."[65] However, his attacks had been launched in a 
disjointed fashion, failing to achieve a concentration of mass to defeat 
Rosecrans or cut him off from Chattanooga. Army of Tennessee historian 
Thomas Connelly criticized Bragg's conduct of the battle on September 19, 
citing his lack of specific orders to his subordinates, and his series of 
"sporadic attacks which only sapped Bragg's strength and enabled 
Rosecrans to locate the Rebel position." He wrote that Bragg bypassed two 
opportunities to win the battle on September 19:[66] 

Bragg's inability to readjust his plans had cost him heavily. 
He had never admitted that he was wrong about the loca-
tion of Rosecrans' left wing and that as a result he by-
passed two splendid opportunities. During the day Bragg 
might have sent heavy reinforcements to Walker and at-
tempted to roll up the Union left; or he could have attacked 
the Union center where he knew troops were passing from 
to the left. Unable to decide on either, Bragg tried to do 
both, wasting his men in sporadic assaults. Now his Army 
was crippled and in no better position than that morning. 
Walker had, in the day's fighting, lost over 20 per cent of his 
strength, while Stuart and Cleburne had lost 30 per cent. 
Gone, too, was any hope for the advantage of a surprise 
blow against Rosecrans.[67] 

     Bragg met individually with his subordinates and informed them that he 
was reorganizing the Army of Tennessee into two wings. Leonidas Polk, the 
senior lieutenant general on the field (but junior to Longstreet), was given 
the right wing and command of Hill's Corps, Walker's Corps, and 
Cheatham's Division. Polk was ordered to initiate the assault on the Federal 
left at daybreak, beginning with the division of Breckinridge, followed pro-
gressively by Cleburne, Stewart, Hood, McLaws, Bushrod, Johnson, Hind-
man, and Preston. Informed that Lt. Gen. James Longstreet had just arrived 
by train from Virginia, Bragg designated him as the left wing commander, 
commanding Hood's Corps, Buckner's Corps, and Hindman's Division of 
Polk's Corps. (Longstreet arrived late on the night of September 19, and had 
to find his way in the dark to Bragg's headquarters, since Bragg did not send 
a guide to meet him. Longstreet found Bragg asleep and woke him around 
11 p.m. Bragg told Longstreet he would take charge of the left wing, ex-
plained his battle plan for September 20, and provided Longstreet a map of 
the area.) The third lieutenant general of the army, D.H. Hill, was not in-
formed directly by Bragg of his effective demotion to Polk's subordinate, but 
he learned his status from a staff officer.[68] 
     What Hill did not learn was his role in the upcoming battle. The courier 
sent with written orders was not able to find Hill and returned to his unit with-
out informing anyone. Maj. Gen. John C. Breckinridge, one of Hill's division 
commanders, was at Polk's headquarters, but was not informed that his 
division was to initiate the dawn attack. At 5 a.m. on September 20, Polk 
was awakened on the cold and foggy battlefield to find that Hill was not pre-
paring to attack. He prepared new written orders, which reached Hill about 
6 a.m. Hill responded with a number of reasons for delaying the attack, in-
cluding readjustments of the alignment of his units, reconnaissance of the 
enemy line, and issuing breakfast rations to his men. Reluctantly, Bragg 
agreed.[69] 
     On the Union side, Rosecrans held a council of war with most of his 
corps and division commanders to determine a course of action for Septem-
ber 20. The Army of the Cumberland had been significantly hurt in the first 
day's battle and had only five fresh brigades available, whereas the Confed-
erate army had been receiving reinforcements and now outnumbered the 
Federals. Both of these facts ruled out a Union offensive. The presence of 
Assistant Secretary of War Charles A. Dana at the meeting made any dis-
cussion of retreating difficult. Rosecrans decided that his army had to remain 
in place, on the defensive. He recalled that Bragg had retreated af-
ter Perryville and Stones River and could conceivably repeat that behavior.
[70] 
     Rosecrans's defensive line consisted of Thomas in his present position, a 
salient that encompassed the Kelly Farm east of the LaFayette Road, which 
Thomas's engineers had fortified overnight with log breastworks. To the 

right, McCook withdrew his men from the Viniard field and anchored his right 
near the Widow Glenn's. Crittenden was put in reserve, and Granger, still 
concentrated at Rossville, was notified to be prepared to support either 
Thomas or McCook, although practically he could only support Thomas.[71] 
     Still before dawn, Baird reported to Thomas that his line stopped short of 
the intersection of the LaFayette and McFarland's Gap Roads, and that he 
could not cover it without weakening his line critically. Thomas requested 
that his division under James Negley be moved from McCook's sector to 
correct this problem. Rosecrans directed that McCook was to replace Ne-
gley in line, but he found soon afterward that Negley had not been relieved. 
He ordered Negley to send his reserve brigade to Thomas immediately and 
continued to ride on an inspection of the lines. On a return visit, he founded 
Negley was still in position and Thomas Wood's division was just arriving to 
relieve him. Rosecrans ordered Wood to expedite his relief of Negley's re-
maining brigades. Some staff officers later recalled that Rosecrans had been 
extremely angry and berated Wood in front of his staff, although Wood de-
nied that this incident occurred. As Negley's remaining brigades moved 
north, the first attack of the second day of the Battle of Chickamauga start 
ed.[72] 
     The battle on the second day began at about 9:30 a.m. on the left flank of 
the Union line, about four hours after Bragg had ordered the attack to start, 
with coordinated attacks planned by Breckinridge and Cleburne of D.H. Hill's 
Corps, Polk's Right Wing. Bragg's intention was that this would be the start 
of successive attacks progressing leftward, enÊechelon, along the Confeder-
ate line, designed to drive the Union army south, away from its escape 
routes through the Rossville Gap and McFarland's Gap. The late start was 
significant. At "day-dawn" there were no significant defensive breastworks 
constructed by Thomas's men yet; these formidable obstacles were built in 
the few hours after dawn. Bragg wrote after the war that if it were not for the 
loss of these hours, "our independence might have been won."[73] 
     Breckinridge's brigades under Brig. Gens. Benjamin Helm, Marcellus A. 
Stovall, and Daniel W. Adams moved forward, left to right, in a single line. 
Helm's Orphan Brigade of Kentuckians was the first to make contact with 
Thomas's breastworks and Helm (the favorite brother-in-law of Abraham 
Lincoln) was mortally wounded while attempting to motivate his Kentuckians 
forward to assault the strong position. Breckinridge's other two brigades 
made better progress against the brigade of Brig. Gen. John Beat-
ty (Negley's division), which was attempting to defend a line of a width more 
suitable for a division. As he found the left flank of the Union line, Breckin-
ridge realigned his two brigades to straddle the LaFayette Road to move 
south, threatening the rear of Thomas's Kelly field salient. Thomas called up 
reinforcements from Brannan's reserve division and Col. Ferdinand Van 
Derveer's brigade charged Stovall's men, driving them back. Adams's Bri-
gade was stopped by Col. Timothy Robbins Stanley's brigade of Negley's 
division. Adams was wounded and left behind as his men retreated to their 
starting position.[74] 
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     The other part of Hill's attack also foundered. Cleburne's division met 
heavy resistance at the breastworks defended by the divisions of Baird, 
Johnson, Palmer, and Reynolds. Confusing lines of battle, including an over-
lap with Stewart's division on Cleburne's left, diminished the effectiveness of 
the Confederate attack. Cheatham's division, waiting in reserve, also could 
not advance because of Left Wing troops to their front. Hill brought 
up Gist's Brigade, commanded by Col. Peyton Colquitt, of Walker's Corps to 
fill the gap between Breckinridge and Cleburne. Colquitt was killed and his 
brigade suffered severe casualties in their aborted advance. Walker brought 
the remainder of his division forward to rescue the survivors of Gist's Bri-
gade. On his right flank, Hill sent Col. Daniel Govan's brigade of Liddell's 
Division to support Breckinridge, but the brigade was forced to retreat along 
with Stovall's and Adams's men in the face of a Federal counterattack.[76] 
     The attack on the Confederate right flank had petered out by noon, but it 
caused great commotion throughout Rosecrans's army as Thomas sent staff 
officers to seek aid from fellow generals along the line. West of the Poe field, 
Brannan's division was manning the line between Reynolds's division on his 
left and Wood's on his right. His reserve brigade was marching north to aid 
Thomas, but at about 10 a.m. he received one of Thomas's staff officers 
asking for additional assistance. He knew that if his entire division were 
withdrawn from the line, it would expose the flanks of the neighboring divi-
sions, so he sought Reynolds's advice. Reynolds agreed to the proposed 
movement, but sent word to Rosecrans warning him of the possibly danger-
ous situation that would result. However, Brannan remained in his position 
on the line, apparently wishing for Thomas's request to be approved by 
Rosecrans. The staff officer continued to think that Brannan was already in 
motion. Receiving the message on the west end of the Dyer field, 
Rosecrans, who assumed that Brannan had already left the line, desired 
Wood to fill the hole that would be created. His chief of staff, James A. Gar-
field, who would have known that Brannan was staying in line, was busy 
writing orders for parts of Sheridan's and Van Cleve's divisions to support 
Thomas. Rosecrans's order was instead written by Frank Bond, his senior 
aide-de-camp, generally competent but inexperienced at order-writing. As 
Rosecrans dictated, Bond wrote the following order: "The general command-
ing directs that you close up on Reynolds as fast as possible, and support 
him." This contradictory order was not reviewed by Rosecrans, who by this 
point was increasingly worn out, and was sent to Wood directly, bypassing 
his corps commander Crittenden.[77] 
     Wood was perplexed by Rosecrans's order, which he received around 
10:50 a.m. Since Brannan was still on his left flank, Wood would not be able 
to "close up on" (a military term that meant to "move adjacent to") Reynolds 
with Brannan's division in the way. Therefore, the only possibility was to 
withdraw from the line, march around behind Brannan and form up behind 
Reynolds (the military meaning of the word "support"). This was obviously a 
risky move, leaving an opening in the line. Wood spoke with corps com-
mander McCook, and claimed later, along with members of both his and 
McCook's staff, that McCook agreed to fill the resulting gap with XX Corps 
units. McCook maintained that he had not enough units to spare to cover a 
division-wide hole, although he did send Heg's brigade to partially fill the 
gap.[78] 
     At about this time, Bragg also made a peremptory order based on incom-
plete information. Impatient that his attack was not progressing to the left, he 
sent orders for all of his commands to advance at once. Maj. 
Gen. Alexander P. Stewart of Longstreet's wing received the command and 
immediately ordered his division forward without consulting with Longstreet. 
His brigades under Brig. Gens. Henry D. Clayton, John C. Brown, 
and William B. Bate attacked across the Poe field in the direction of the 
Union divisions of Brannan and Reynolds. Along with Brig. Gen. S. A. M. 
Wood's brigade of Cleburne's Division, Stewart's men disabled Brannan's 
right flank and pushed back Van Cleve's division in Brannan's rear, momen-
tarily crossing the LaFayette Road. A Federal counterattack drove Stewart's 
Division back to its starting point.[79] 
     Longstreet also received Bragg's order but did not act immediately. Sur-
prised by Stewart's advance, he held up the order for the remainder of his 
wing. Longstreet had spent the morning attempting to arrange his lines so 
that his divisions from the Army of Northern Virginia would be in the front 
line, but these movements had resulted in the battle line confusion that had 
plagued Cleburne earlier. When Longstreet was finally ready, he had 
amassed a concentrated striking force, commanded by Maj. Gen. John Bell 
Hood, of three divisions, with eight brigades arranged in five lines. In the 
lead, Brig. Gen. Bushrod Johnson's division straddled the Brotherton Road 
in two echelons. They were followed by Hood's Division, now commanded 
by Brig. Gen. Evander M. Law, and two brigades of Maj. Gen. Lafayette 
McLaws's division, commanded by Brig. Gen. Joseph B. Kershaw. To the 
left of this column was Maj. Gen. Thomas C. Hindman's division. Brig. 
Gen. William Preston's division of Buckner's corps was in reserve behind 
Hindman. Longstreet's force of 10,000 men, primarily infantry, was similar in 
number to those he sent forward in Pickett's Charge at Gettysburg, and 

some historians judge that he learned the lessons of that failed assault by 
providing a massive, narrow column to break the enemy line. Historian Har-
old Knudsen has described this deployment on a narrow front as similar to 
the style of the German Schwerpunkt in World War II, achieving an attacker/
defender ratio of 8:1. Biographer Jeffry D. Wert also cites the innovative 
approach that Longstreet adopted, "demonstrating his skill as a battlefield 
commander." William Glenn Robertson, however, contends that Longstreet's 
deployment was "happenstance", and that the general's after-action report 
and memoirs do not demonstrate that he had a grand, three-division column 
in mind.[80]  
     Longstreet gave the order to move at 11:10 a.m. and Johnson's division 
proceeded across the Brotherton field, by coincidence to precisely the point 
where Wood's Union division was pulling out of the line. Johnson's brigade 
on the left, commanded by Col. John S. Fulton, drove directly through the 
gap. The brigade on the right, under Brig. Gen. Evander McNair, encoun-
tered opposition from Brannan's division (parts of Col. John M. Connell's 
brigade), but was also able to push through. The result was what was very 
soon to be a devastating rout of the Union Army. The few Union soldiers in 
that sector ran in panic from the onslaught. 
     At the far side of the Dyer field, several Union batteries of the XXI Corps 
reserve artillery were set up, but without infantry support. Although the Con-
federate infantrymen hesitated briefly, Gregg's brigade, commanded by Col. 
Cyrus Sugg, which flanked the guns on their right, Sheffield's brigade, com-
manded by Col. William Perry, and the brigade of Brig. Gen. Jerome B. 
Robertson, captured 15 of the 26 cannons on the ridge.[82] 
     As the Union troops were withdrawing, Wood stopped his brigade com-
manded by Col. Charles G. Harker and sent it back with orders to counterat-
tack the Confederates. They appeared on the scene at the flank of the Con-
federates who had captured the artillery pieces, causing them to retreat. The 
brigades of McNair, Perry, and Robinson became intermingled as they ran 
for shelter in the woods east of the field. Hood ordered Kershaw's Brigade to 
attack Harker and then raced toward Robertson's Brigade of Texans, Hood's 
old brigade. As he reached his former unit, a bullet struck him in his right 
thigh, knocking him from his horse. He was taken to a hospital near Alexan-
der's Bridge, where his leg was amputated a few inches from the hip.[83] 
     Harker conducted a fighting withdrawal under pressure from Kershaw, 
retreating to Horseshoe Ridge near the tiny house of George Washington 
Snodgrass. Finding a good defensible position there, Harker's men were 
able to resist the multiple assaults, beginning at 1 p.m., from the brigades of 
Kershaw and Brig. Gen. Benjamin G. Humphreys. These two brigades had 
no assistance from their nearby fellow brigade commanders. Perry and Rob-
ertson were attempting to reorganize their brigades after they were routed 
into the woods. Brig. Gen. Henry L. Benning's brigade turned north after 
crossing the Lafayette Road in pursuit of two brigades of Brannan's division, 
then halted for the afternoon near the Poe house.[84] 
     Hindman's Division attacked the Union line to the south of Hood's column 
and encountered considerably more resistance. The brigade on the right, 
commanded by Brig. Gen. Zachariah Deas, drove back two brigades of 
Davis's division and defeated Col. Bernard Laiboldt's brigade of Sheridan's 
division. Sheridan's two remaining brigades, under Brig. Gen. William H. 
Lytle and Col. Nathan Walworth, checked the Confederate advance on a 
slight ridge west of the Dyer field near the Widow Glenn House. While lead-
ing his men in the defense, Lytle was killed and his men, now outflanked 
and leaderless, fled west. Hindman's brigade on the left, under Brig. Gen. 
Arthur Manigault, crossed the field east of the Widow Glenn's house when 
Col. John T. Wilder's mounted infantry brigade, advancing from its reserve 
position, launched a strong 
counterattack with its Spencer 
repeating rifles, driving the 
enemy around and through 
what became known as 
"Bloody Pond". Having nullified 
Manigault's advance, Wilder 
decided to attack the flank of 
Hood's column. However, just 
then Assistant Secretary of War 
Dana found Wilder and excited-
ly proclaimed that the battle 
was lost and demanded to be 
escorted to Chattanooga. In the 
time that Wilder took to calm 
down the secretary and ar-
range a small detachment to 
escort him back to safety, the 
opportunity for a successful 
attack was lost and he ordered 
his men to withdraw to the 
west.[85] 
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     All Union resistance at the southern end of the battlefield evaporated. 
Sheridan's and Davis's divisions fell back to the escape route at McFar-
land's Gap, taking with them elements of Van Cleve's and Negley's divi-
sions. The majority of units on the right fell back in disorder and 
Rosecrans, Garfield, McCook, and Crittenden, although attempting to 
rally retreating units, soon joined them in the mad rush to safety. 
Rosecrans decided to proceed in haste to Chattanooga in order to organ-
ize his returning men and the city defenses. He sent Garfield to Thomas 
with orders to take command of the forces remaining at Chickamauga 
and withdraw to Rossville. At McFarland's Gap units had reformed and 
General Negley met both Sheridan and Davis. Sheridan decided he 
would go to Thomas's aid not directly from McFarland's gap but via a 
circuitous route northwest to the Rossville gap then south on Lafayette 
road. The provost marshal of the XIV Corps met Crittenden around the 
gap and offered him the services of 1,000 men he had been able to round 
up during the retreat. Crittenden refused the command and continued his 
personal flight. At about 3 p.m., Sheridan's 1,500 men, Davis's 2,500, 
Negley's 2,200, and 1,700 men of other detached units were at or near 
McFarland's Gap just 3 miles away from Horseshoe Ridge.[87] 

 
Defense of Horseshoe Ridge and Union retreat, afternoon and even-
ing of September 20

 
Defense of Horseshoe Ridge and Union retreat, brigade details 
 
     However, not all of the Army of the Cumberland had fled. Thomas's 
four divisions still held their lines around Kelly Field and a strong defen-

sive position was attracting men from the right flank to Horseshoe Ridge. 
James Negley had been deploying artillery there on orders from Thomas 
to protect his position at Kelly Field (although Negley inexplicably was 
facing his guns to the south instead of the northeast). Retreating men 
rallied in groups of squads and companies and began erecting hasty 
breastworks from felled trees. The first regimental size unit to arrive in an 
organized state was the 82nd Indiana, commanded by Col. Morton 
Hunter, part of Brannan's division. Brannan himself arrived at Snodgrass 
Hill at about noon and began to implore his men to rally around Hunter's 
unit.[88] 
     Units continued to arrive on Horseshoe Ridge and extended the line, 
most importantly a regiment that Brannan had requested from Negley's 
division, the 21st Ohio. This unit was armed with five-shot Colt revolving 
rifles, without which the right flank of the position might have been turned 
by Kershaw's 2nd South Carolina at 1 p.m. Historian Steven E. Wood-
worth called the actions of the 21st Ohio "one of the epic defensive 
stands of the entire war."[89] The 535 men of the regiment expended 
43,550 rounds in the engagement. Stanley's brigade, which had been 
driven to the area by Govan's attack, took up a position on the portion of 
the ridge immediately south of the Snodgrass house, where they were 
joined by Harker's brigade on their left. This group of randomly selected 
units were the ones who beat back the initial assaults from Kershaw and 
Humphrey. Soon thereafter, the Confederate division of Bushrod Johnson 
advanced against the western end of the ridge, seriously threatening the 
Union flank. But as they reached the top of the ridge, they found that 
fresh Union reinforcements had arrived.[90] 
     Throughout the day, the sounds of battle had reached 3 miles north to 
McAfee's Church, where the Reserve Corps of Maj. Gen. Gordon 
Granger was stationed. Granger eventually lost patience and sent rein-
forcements south without receiving explicit orders[91] to do so—the two 
brigades of Maj. Gen. James B. Steedman's division and the brigade of 
Col. Daniel McCook. As the men marched, they were harassed by For-
rest's dismounted cavalrymen and artillery, causing them to veer toward 
the west. McCook's brigade was left behind at the McDonald house to 
guard the rear and Steedman's two brigades reached the Union lines in 
the rear of the Horseshoe Ridge position, just as Johnson was starting 
his attack. Granger sent Steedman's men into Johnson's path on the run.
[92] 
     Several attacks and counterattacks shifted the lines back and forth as 
Johnson received more and more reinforcements—McNair's Brigade 
(commanded by Col. David Coleman), and Deas's and Manigault's bri-
gades from Hindman's division—but many of these men were exhausted. 
Van Derveer's brigade arrived from the Kelly Field line to beef up the 
Union defense. Brig. Gen. Patton Anderson's brigade (Hindman's Divi-
sion) attempted to assault the hill in the gap between Johnson and Ker-
shaw. Despite all the furious activity on Snodgrass Hill, Longstreet was 
exerting little direction on the battlefield, enjoying a leisurely lunch of 
bacon and sweet potatoes with his staff in the rear. Summoned to a 
meeting with Bragg, Longstreet asked the army commander for reinforce-
ments from Polk's stalled wing, even though he had not committed his 
own reserve, Preston's division. Bragg was becoming distraught and told 
Longstreet that the battle was being lost, something Longstreet found 
inexplicable, considering the success of his assault column. Bragg knew, 
however, that his success on the southern end of the battlefield was 
merely driving his opponents to their escape route to Chattanooga and 
that the opportunity to destroy the Army of the Cumberland had evapo-
rated. After the repeated delays in the morning's attacks, Bragg had lost 
confidence in his generals on the right wing, and while denying Long-
street reinforcements told him "There is not a man in the right wing who 
has any fight in him."[93] 
     Longstreet finally deployed Preston's division, which made several 
attempts to assault Horseshoe Ridge, starting around 4:30 p.m. Long-
street later wrote that there were 25 assaults in all on Snodgrass Hill, but 
historian Glenn Tucker has written that it was "really one of sustained 
duration."[94] At that same time Thomas received an order from 
Rosecrans to take command of the army and began a general retreat. 
Thomas's divisions at Kelly field, starting with Reynolds's division, were 
the first to withdraw, followed by Palmer's. As the Confederates saw the 
Union soldiers withdrawing, they renewed their attacks, threatening to 
surround Johnson's and Baird's divisions. Although Johnson's division 
managed to escape relatively unscathed, Baird lost a significant number 
of men as prisoners. Thomas left Horseshoe Ridge, placing Granger in 
charge, but Granger departed soon thereafter, leaving no one to coordi-
nate the withdrawal. Steedman, Brannan, and Wood managed to stealthi-
ly withdraw their divisions to the north. Three regiments that had been 
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attached from other units—the 22nd Michigan, the 89th Ohio, and the 
21st Ohio—were left behind without sufficient ammunition, and ordered to 
use their bayonets. They held their position until surrounded by Preston's 
division, when they were forced to surrender.[95]  
     Thomas withdrew the remainder of his units to positions around Ros-
sville Gap after darkness fell. His personal determination to maintain the 
Union position until ordered to withdraw while his commander and peers 
fled earned him the nickname RockÊofÊChickamauga, derived from a 
portion of a message that Garfield sent to Rosecrans, "Thomas is stand-
ing like a rock."[97] Garfield met Thomas in Rossville that night and wired 
to Rosecrans that "our men not only held their ground, but in many points 
drove the enemy splendidly. Longstreet's Virginians have got their bellies 
full." Although the troops were tired and hungry, and nearly out of ammu-
nition, he continued, "I believe we can whip them tomorrow. I believe we 
can now crown the whole battle with victory." He urged Rosecrans to 
rejoin the army and lead it, but Rosecrans, physically exhausted and 
psychologically a beaten man, remained in Chattanooga. President Lin-
coln attempted to prop up the morale of his general by telegraphing, "Be 
of good cheer.... We have unabated confidence in you and your soldiers 
and officers. In the main, you must be the judge as to what is to be done. 
If I was to suggest, I would say save your army by taking strong positions 
until Burnside joins you." Privately, Lincoln told John Hay that Rosecrans 
seemed "confused and stunned like a duck hit on the head."[98] 
     The Army of Tennessee camped for the night, unaware that the Union 
army had slipped from their grasp. Bragg was not able to mount the kind 
of pursuit that would have been necessary to cause Rosecrans significant 
further damage. Many of his troops had arrived hurriedly at Chickamauga 
by rail, without wagons to transport them, and many of the artillery horses 
had been injured or killed during the battle. The Tennessee River was 
now an obstacle to the Confederates and Bragg had no pontoon bridges 
to effect a crossing. Bragg's army paused at Chickamauga to reorganize 
and gather equipment lost by the Union army. Although Rosecrans had 
been able to save most of his trains, large quantities of ammunition and 
arms had been left behind. Army of Tennessee historian Thomas L. Con-
nelly has criticized Bragg's performance, claiming that for over four hours 
on the afternoon of September 20, he missed several good opportunities 
to prevent the Union escape, such as by a pursuit up the Dry Valley Road 
to McFarland's Gap, or by moving a division (such as Cheatham's) 
around Polk to the north to seize the Rossville Gap or McFarland's Gap 
via the Reed's Bridge Road.[99] 
     The battle was damaging to both sides in proportions roughly equal to 
the size of the armies: Union losses were 16,170 (1,657 killed, 9,756 
wounded, and 4,757 
captured or missing), 
Confederate 18,454 
(2,312 killed, 14,674 
wounded, and 1,468 
captured or missing).
[10] They were the highest 
losses of any battle in 
the Western Thea-
ter during the war and, 
after Gettysburg, the 
second-highest of the 
war overall.[100] Among 
the dead were Confeder-
ate generals Benjamin 
Hardin Helm (husband of 
Abraham Lincoln's sister-
in-law), James Deshler, 
and Preston Smith, and 
Union general William H. 
Lytle.[101] Confederate 
general John Bell Hood, 
who had already lost the 
use of his left arm from a 
wound at Gettysburg, 
was severely wounded 
with a bullet in his leg, 

requiring it to be amputated. Although the Confederates were technically 
the victors, driving Rosecrans from the field, Bragg had not achieved his 
objectives of destroying Rosecrans or of restoring Confederate control of 
East Tennessee, and the Confederate Army suffered casualties that they 
could ill afford.[102]  
     On September 21, Rosecrans's army withdrew to the city of Chatta-
nooga and took advantage of previous Confederate works to erect strong 
defensive positions. However, the supply lines into Chattanooga were at 
risk, and the Confederates soon occupied the surrounding heights and 
laid siege upon the Union forces. Unable to break the siege, Rosecrans 
was relieved of his command of the Army of the Cumberland on October 
19, replaced by Thomas. McCook and Crittenden lost their commands on 
September 28 as the XX Corps and the XXI Corps were consolidated into 
a new IV Corps commanded by Granger; neither officer would ever com-
mand in the field again. On the Confederate side, Bragg began to wage a 
battle against the subordinates he resented for failing him in the cam-
paign: Hindman for his lack of action in McLemore's Cove and Polk for 
his late attack on September 20. On September 29, Bragg suspended 
both officers from their commands. In early October, an attempted mutiny 
of Bragg's subordinates resulted in D.H. Hill being relieved from his com-
mand. Longstreet was dispatched with his corps to the Knoxville Cam-
paign against Ambrose Burnside, seriously weakening Bragg's army at 
Chattanooga.[104] 
     Harold Knudsen contends that Chickamauga was the first major Con-
federate effort to use the "interior lines of the nation" to transport troops 
between theaters with the aim of achieving a period of numerical superi-
ority and taking the initiative in the hope of gaining decisive results in the 
West. He states, "The concentration the Confederates achieved at Chick-
amauga was an opportunity to work within the strategic parameters of 
Longstreet's Defensive-Offensive theory." In Knudsen's estimation, it was 
the Confederates' last realistic chance to take the tactical offense within 
the context of a strategic defense, and destroy the Union Army of the 
Cumberland. If a major victory erasing the Union gains of the Tullahoma 
Campaign and a winning of the strategic initiative could be achieved in 
late 1863, any threat to Atlanta would be eliminated for the near future. 
Even more significantly, a major military reversal going into the election 
year of 1864 could have severely harmed President Lincoln's re-election 
chances, caused the possible election of Democrat nominee George B. 
McClellan as president, and the cessation of the Union war effort to sub-
due the South.[105] 
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Notes 
1.  The NPS battle description Archived January 11, 2006, at 
the Wayback Machine by the Civil War Sites Advisory Commission and 
Kennedy, p. 227, cite September 18–20. However, fighting on September 
18 was relatively minor in comparison to the following two days and only 
small portions of the armies were engaged. The Official Records of the 
war list September 18 activities as "Skirmishes at Pea Vine Ridge, Alex-
ander's and Reed's Bridges, Dyer's Ford, Spring Creek, and near Ste-
vens' Gap, Georgia." Chickamauga is almost universally referred to as a 
two-day battle, fought on September 19–20. 
2. ^ Jump up to:a b Martin, pp. 291-94 
3. ^ NPS battle description 
4. ^ Official Records, Series I, Volume XXX, Part 1, pages 40-47 
5. ^ Official Records, Series I, Volume XXX, Part 2, pages 11-20 
6. ^ Official Records, Series I, Volume XXX, Part 1, page 169 
7. ^ Jump up to:a b Strength figures vary widely in different accounts. 
Cozzens, p. 534: 57,840; Hallock, p. 77: 58,222; Eicher, p. 590: 58,000; 
Esposito, map 112: 64,000; Korn, p. 32: 59,000; Tucker, p. 125: 64,500 
with 170 pieces of artillery. 
8. ^ Jump up to:a b Strength figures vary in different accounts. 
Cozzens, p. 534: about 68,000; Hallock, p. 77: 66,326; Eicher, p. 590: 
66,000; Esposito, map 112: 62,000; Lamers, p. 152: "barely 40,000, of 
which 28,500 were infantry"; Tucker, p. 125: 71,500 with 200 pieces of 
artillery. 
9. ^ Official Records, Series I, Volume XXX, Part 1, page 179 
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Missouri in the Civil War:  
Her "Beauty, Talents and Education Made 

Many a Man a Bushwhacker" 
James W. Erwin, July 28, 

2023, blueandgrayeducation.org  
 
     Mildred Elizabeth 
(“Lizzie”) Powell was born 
in 1840 near Paris, Mis-
souri. Little is known of 
her prewar life, but she 
was well-educated and 
known for her quick wit 
and sharp tongue that 
she frequently used 
against supporters of the 
Union. Fascinated Union 
men described her as 
“young, beautiful & ac-
complished.” 
     Lizzie Powell was 
suspected of smuggling 
percussion caps out of 
Hannibal in her petticoat 
for guerrillas. She openly 
discouraged young men 
from joining the Union 
army, telling them that 
doing so would be an 
“everlasting disgrace.” An 

officer noted her “beauty, talents and superior education have made 
many a man a bushwhacker who except for [her] influence would have 
been an honest man.” 
     On September 29, 1862, Captain William Poillon, with fifty soldiers 
and a half dozen officers who were eager to meet this notorious and 
attractive rebel, arrested her at her home. When Poillon introduced his 
companions, Powell “requested him to dispense with this, as it was not 
my desire to be introduced to those whose acquaintance I had not sought 
and did not expect to cultivate.”  
     Powell was brought before Gen. Lewis Merrill, the district commander. 
After some verbal sparring about the rebellion, Merrill remarked that “he 
had never met an intelligent southern lady in Missouri.” Powell replied 
that “he had been very unfortunate in his associations.”  
     Powell was allowed to remain more or less free in Hannibal. The local 
provost marshal, Maj, T.D. Price, came to see her. She wrote in her diary 
that he “solicits an introduction and passes several compliments; [I] re-
fuse for [the] reason that I do not wish to devote the evening to entertain-
ing a Federal officer.”  
     On January 8, 1863, a Union citizen, William Newland, complained 
Powell was allowed free run of the town. He noted she was completely 
defiant of the Union soldiers, “but about one half of them are in love with 
her.” Four days later, General Merrill ordered her confined again.  
     Major Price was befuddled. He finally wrote St. Louis urging she be 
banished to Dixie. He pointed out that when Powell was served with the 
original banishment order, she simply refused to go—and the authorities 
did not know what to do about it. In a postscript, Price (like the other Fed-
eral officers) described her as a “young and withal quite fascinating ‘King-
Bee’ among the ‘Secesh.’”  
     Federal authorities released her unconditionally on February 25, 1863. 
In directing her release, the commanding officer remarked: “A lofty spirit 
(such as her correspondence shows her to possess) I would rather trust 
to generous impulses and a sense of propriety, than hope to reclaim to 
allegiance by imposing any condition.” 
     Seeking a more favorable climate for her health and politics, Lizzie 
and her brother James boarded the Hannibal and St. Joseph train in April 
1863 for a trip West to Virginia City, Nevada Territory. Lizzie Powell died 
in 1877 in a carriage accident in Denver.   
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